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John A. Miller Claim, Page 1 (Title Page), 6/22/1875 
 
Submitted. June 22d 1875,  

       J.H. Baker 
    No. 17292 
 

CLAIM OF 
John A. Miller 
____________ 

OF 
Rockingham County, 

State of, Virginia 
$225.75 

 
TESTIMONY OF 

           Page 
     Claimant                          2 
     Elizabeth F. Miller           8 
     Silas Sandy      10 
     Abraham Miller              11 
         to 
       13 
 

TAKEN BY 
Isaac P. Baldwin 

      Special Commissioner 
 

Actual Fees and Costs, $6= 
 

AGENTS OR ATTORNEYS AT WASHINGTON: 
John H. Baker 
June 25, 1875 
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John A. Miller Claim, Page 2 (Directions), 6/22/1875 
 
 
Directions: This certificate, with accompanying printed questions, goes in front of the depositions. A single 
sheet, marked “Last Page,” accompanies this double sheet, and goes at the end of the depositions, having 
on its outside a printed form of endorsement to be filled up by the special commissioner. 
 

Act March 3, 1871. 
 

BEFORE THE COMMISSIONERS OF CLAIMS. 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 

 
Claim of: John A. Miller 
Of the County of Rockingham, and State of Virginia 
Numbered 17292 
 
 
 
 It is hereby certified that on the 29 day of May, 1875, at Dale Enterprise in the County of 
Rockingham and State of Virginia came personally before me, for the purpose of a hearing in the above-
entitled cause, the following persons, namely: 
 
 John A. Miller, Claimant 
 John H. Baker, Counsel. 
 Elizabeth F. Miller 
 Silas Sandy  Witnesses 
 Abraham Miller 
 
  
 Each and every deponent, previous to his or her examination, was properly and duly sworn or 
affirmed to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth concerning the matters under examination; 
the claimant’s witnesses were examined separately and apart from each other; the testimony of each 
deponent was written out by me in presence of such deponent, who signed the same in my presences after 
having the deposition read aloud to such deponent, and the signature of such deponent was by me attested 
at the time it was affixed to the deposition. 
 

Witness my hand and ________ seal this 29 day of May 
1875. 
 

Isaac P. Baldwin 
Special Commissioner.   
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John A. Miller Claim, Pages 3-5 (List of Standing Interrogatories), 6/22/1875 
STANDING INTERROGATORIES 

  
The following questions will be put to every person who gives testimony: 

1.     What is your name, your age, your residence and how long has it been such, and your occupation?      
2.     If you are not the claimant, in what manner, if any, are you related to the claimant or interested in the 
success of the claim? 

The following questions will be put to every claimant, except claimants who were slaves at the beginning of the war: 
(Note – if the original claimant be dead, these questions are to be answered by each of the heirs or relatives who was not 
less than sixteen years of age when the war closed.) 

 
3.     Where were you born? If not born in the United States, when and where were you naturalized? Produce 
your naturalization papers if you can.      
4.     Where were you residing and what was your business for six months before the outbreak of the rebellion, 
and where did you reside and what was your business from the beginning to the end of the war? And if you 
changed your residence or business, state how many times, and why such changes were made. 
5.     On which side were your sympathies during the war, and were they on the same side from beginning to 
end? 
6.     Did you ever do anything or say anything against the Union cause; and if so, what did you do or say, and 
why? 
7.     Were you at all times during the war willing and ready to do whatever you could in aid of the Union 
cause? 
8.     Did you ever do anything for the Union cause, or its advocates or defenders? If so, state what you did, 
giving times, places, names of persons aided, and particulars. Were the persons aided your relations? 
9.     Had you any near relatives in the Union army or navy? If so, in what company and regiment, or on what 
vessel, when and where did each one enter service, and when and how did he leave service? If he was a son, 
produce his discharge paper, in order that its contents may be noted in this deposition, or state why it cannot be 
produced. 
10.  Were you in the service or employment of the United States Government at any time during the war? If so, 
in what service, when, where, for how long, under what officers, and when and how did you leave such service 
or employment? 
11.  Did you ever voluntarily contribute money, property, or services to the Union cause; and if so, when, 
where, to whom, and what did you contribute. 
12.  Which side did you take while the insurgent States were seceding from the Union in 1860 and 1861, and 
what did you do to show on which side you stood? 
13.  Did you adhere to the Union cause after the States had passed into rebellion, or did you go with your 
State? 
14.  What were your feelings concerning the battle of Bull Run or Manassas, the capture of New Orleans, the 
fall of Vicksburg, and the final surrender of the Confederate forces? 
15.  What favors, privileges, or protections were ever granted you in recognition of your loyalty during the 
way, and when and by whom granted?      
16.  Have you ever taken the so-called “Iron-clad oath” since the war, and when and on what occasions? 
17.  Who were the leading and best known Unionist of your vicinity during the war? Are any of them called to 
testify to your loyalty; and if not, why not? 
18.  Were you ever threatened with damage or injury to your person, family, or property on account of your 
Union sentiments, or were you actually molested or injured on account of your Union sentiments? If so, when, 
where, by whom, and in what particular way were you injured or threatened with injury? 
19.  Were you ever arrested by any Confederate officer, soldier, sailor, or other person professing to act for the 
Confederate government or for any State in rebellion? If so, when, where, by whom, for what cause; how long 
were you kept under arrest; how did you obtain your release; did you take any oath or give any bond to effect 
your release; and if so, what was the nature of the oath or the bond?  
20.  Was any of your property taken by Confederate officers or soldiers, or any rebel authority? If so, what 
property, when where, by whom, were you ever paid therefor, and did you ever present an account therefor to 
the Confederate government, or any rebel officer?   
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21.  Was any of your property ever confiscated by rebel authority, on the ground that you were an enemy to the 
rebel cause? If so, give all the particulars, and state if the property was subsequently released or compensation 
made therefor. 
22.  Did you ever do anything for the Confederate cause, or render any aid or comfort to the rebellion? If so, 
give the times, places, persons, and other particulars connected with each transaction. 
23.  What force, compulsion, or influence, was used to make you do anything against the Union cause? If any, 
give all the particulars demanded in the last questions.   
24.  Were you in any service, business, or employment, for the confederacy, or for any rebel authority? If so, 
give the same particulars as before required. 
25.  Were you in the civil, military, or naval service of the Confederacy, or any rebel State, in any capacity 
whatsoever? If so, state fully in respect to each occasion and service. 
26.  Did you ever take any oath to the so-called Confederate States while in any rebel service or employment?    
27.  Did you ever have charge of any stores, or other property, for the confederacy; or did you ever sell or 
furnish any supplies to the so-called Confederate States, or any State in rebellion; or did you have any share of 
interest in contracts or manufactures in aid of the rebellion?   
28.  Were you engaged in blockade running, or running through the lines, or interested in the risks or profits of 
such ventures? 
29.  Were you in any way interested in any vessel navigating the waters of the Confederacy, or entering or 
leaving any Confederate port? If so, what vessel, when and where employed, in what business, and had any 
rebel authority any direct or indirect interest in vessel or cargo? 
30.  Did you ever subscribe to any loan of the so-called Confederate States, or of any rebel State; or own 
Confederate bonds or securities, or the bonds or securities of any rebel State issued between 1861 and 1865? 
Did you sell, or agree to sell, cotton or produce to the confederate Government, or to any rebel State, or to any 
rebel officer or agent, and if so, did you receive or agree to receive Confederate or State bonds or securities in 
payment; and if so, to what amount and for what kind and amount of property?   
31.  Did you contribute to the raising, equipment or support of troops, or the building of gunboats in aid of the 
rebellion; or to military hospitals or invalids, or to relief funds or subscriptions for the families of persons 
serving against the United States? 
32.  Did you ever give information to any person in aid of military or naval operations against the United 
States? 
33.  Were you at any time a member of any society or organization for equipping volunteers or conscripts, or 
for aiding the rebellion in any other manner?   
34.  Did you ever take an oath of allegiance to the so-called Confederate States? If so, state how often, when, 
where, for what purpose, and the nature of the oath or affirmation. 
35.  Did you ever receive a pass from rebel authority? If so, state when, where, for what purpose, on what 
conditions, and how the pass was used. 
36.  Had you any near relatives in the Confederate army, or in any military or naval service hostile to the 
United States? If so, give names, ages on entering service, present residence, if living, what influence you 
exerted, if any, against their entering the service, and in what way you contributed to their outfit and support. 
37.  Have you been under the disabilities imposed by the fourteenth amendment to the Constitution? Have your 
disabilities been removed by congress? 
38.  Have you been specially pardoned by the President for participation in the rebellion? 
39.  Did you take any amnesty oath during the war, or after its close? If so, when, where, and why did you take 
it? 
40.  Were you ever a prisoner to the United States authorities, or on parole, or under bonds to do nothing 
against the Union cause? If so, state all the particulars. 
41.  Were you ever arrested by the authorities of the United States during the war? If so, when, where, by 
whom, on what grounds, and when and how did you obtain your release?    
42.  Were any fines or assessments levied upon you by the authorities of the United States because of your 
supposed sympathy for the rebellion? If so, state all the facts. 
43.  Was any of your property taken into possession or sold by the United States under the laws relating to 
confiscation, or to captured and abandoned property? 

  
The following questions will be put to all male claimants or beneficiaries who were not less than sixteen years of age 
when the war closed: 

44.  After the Presidential election of 1800 [sic, probably 1860], if of age, did you vote for any candidates, or 
on any questions, during the war, and how did you vote? Did you vote for or against candidates favoring 
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secession? Did you vote for or against the ratification of the ordinance of secession, or for or against separation 
in your State? 
45.  Did you belong to any vigilance committee, or committee of safety, homeguard, or any other form of 
organization or combination designed to suppress Union sentiment in your vicinity? 
46.  Were you in the Confederate army, state militia, or any military or naval organization hostile to the United 
States? If so, state when, where, in what organizations, how and why you entered, how long you remained each 
time, and when and how you left. If you claim that you were conscripted, when and where was it, how did you 
receive notice, and from whom, and what was the precise manner in which the conscription was enforced 
against you? If you were never in the rebel army or other hostile organization, explain how you escaped 
service. If you furnished a substitute, when and why did you furnish one, and what is his name, and his present 
address, if living? 
47.  Were you in any way connected with or employed in the Confederate quartermaster, commissary, 
ordinance, engineer, or medical department, or any other department, or employed on any railroad transporting 
troops or supplies for the Confederacy, or otherwise engaged in transportation of men and supplies for the 
Confederacy? If so, state how employed when, where, for how long, under whose direction, and why such 
employment was not giving “aid and comfort” to the rebellion. 
48.  Did you at any time have charges of trains, teams, wagons, vessels, boats, or military supplies or property 
of any kind for the Confederate government? If so, give all the facts as in previous questions. 
49.   Were you employed in saltpeter works, in tanning or milling for the Confederate government, or making 
clothing, boots, shoes, saddles, harness, arms, ammunition, accoutrements, or any other kind of munitions of 
war for the Confederacy? If so, give all the particulars of time, place and nature of service or supplies. 
50.  Were you ever engaged in holding in custody, directly, or indirectly, any persons taken by the rebel 
government as prisoners or war, or any persons imprisoned or confined by the Confederate government, or the 
authorities of any rebel State, for political causes? If so, when, where, under what circumstances, in what 
capacity were you engaged, and what was the name and rank of your principal? 
51.  Were you ever in the Union army or navy or in any service connected therewith? If so, when, where, in 
what capacity, under whose command or authority, for what period of time, and when and how did you leave 
service? Produce your discharge papers, so that their contents may be noted herein? 

  
The following questions will be put to every person testifying to the loyalty of claimants or beneficiaries: 

52.  In whose favor are you here to testify?       
53.  How long have you known that person altogether, and what part of that time have you intimately known 
him? 
54.  Did you live near him during the war, and how far away? 
55.  Did you meet him often, and about how often, during the war?    
56.  Did you converse with the claimant about the war, its causes, its progress, and its results? If so, try to 
remember the more important occasions on which you so conversed, beginning with the first occasion, and 
state, with respect to each, when it was, where it was, who were present, what caused the conversation, and 
what the claimant said in substance, if you cannot remember his words. 
57.  Do you know of anything done by the claimant that showed him to be loyal to the Union cause during the 
war? If you do, state what he did, when, where, and what was the particular cause or occasion of his doing it? 
Give the same information about each thing he did that showed him to be loyal. 
58.  Do you know of anything said or done by the claimant that was against the Union cause? If so, please 
state, with respect to each thing said or done, what it was, when it was, and what particular compulsion or 
influence cause him to say or do it. 
59.  If you have heard of anything said or done by the claimant, either for the Union cause or against it, state 
from whom you heard it, when you heard it, and what you heard. 
60.  What was the public reputation of the claimant for loyalty or disloyalty to the United States during the 
war? If you profess to know his public reputation, explain fully how you know it, whom you heard speak of it, 
and give the names of other persons who were neighbors during the war and could testify to his public 
reputation. 
61.  Who were the known and prominent Union people of the neighborhood during the war, and do you know 
that such persons could testify to the claimant’s loyalty? 
62.  Were you, yourself, an adherent of the Union cause during the war? If so, did the claimant know you to be 
such, and how did he know it? 
63.  Do you know of any threats, molestations, or injury inflicted upon the claimant, or his family, or his 
property, on account of his adherence to the Union cause? If so, give all the particulars. 
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64.  Do you know of any act done or language used by the claimant that would have prevented him from 
establishing his loyalty to the Confederacy? If so, what act or what language? 
65.  Can you state any other facts within your own knowledge in proof of the claimant’s loyalty during the 
war? If so, state all the facts and give all the particulars. 

  
The following questions concerning the ownership of property charged in claims will be put to all claimants, or the 
representatives of deceased claimants: 

66.  Who was the owner for the property charged in this claim when it was taken, and how did such persons 
become owner?   
67.  If any of the property was taken, from a farm or plantation, where was such farm or plantation situated, 
what was its size, how much was cultivated, how much was woodland, and how much was the waste land? 
68.  Has the person who owned the property when taken since filed a petition in bankruptcy, or been declared a 
bankrupt? 

  
The following questions will be put to female claimants: 

69.  Are you married or single? If married, when were you married? Was your husband loyal to the cause and 
Government of the United States throughout the war? Where does he now reside, and why is he not joined with 
you in the petition? How many children have you? Give their names and ages. Were any of them in the 
Confederate service during the war? If you claim that the property named in your petition is your sole and 
separate property, state how you came to own it separately from your husband; how your title was derived; 
when your ownership of it began. Did it ever belong to your husband? If the property for which you ask pay is 
wood, timber, rails, or the products of a farm, how did you get title to the farm? If by deed, can you file copies 
of the deeds? If single, have you been married? If a widow, when did your husband die? Was he in the 
Confederate army? Was he in the civil service of the Confederacy? Was he loyal to the United States 
Government throughout the war? Did he leave any children? How many? Are any now living? Give their 
names and ages. Are they not interested in this claim? If they are not joined in this petition, why not? State 
fully how your title to the property specified in the petition was obtained. Did you ever belong to any sewing 
society organized to make clothing for Confederate soldiers or their families, or did you assist in making any 
such clothing, or making any such clothing, or making flags or other military equipment, or preparing or 
furnishing delicacies or supplies for Confederate hospitals or soldiers? 

  
The following questions will be put to colored claimants: 

70.  Were you a slave or free at the beginning of the war? If ever a slave when did you become free? What 
business did you follow after obtaining your freedom? Did you own this property before or after you became 
free? When did you get it? How did you become owner, and from whom did you obtain it? Where did you get 
the means to pay for it? What was the name and residence of your master, and is he still living? Is he a witness 
for you, and if not, why not? Are you in his employ now, or do you live on his land or on land bough from 
him? Are you in his debt? What other person besides yourself has any interest in this claim? 

  
The following questions will be put to all colored witnesses in behalf of white claimants: 

71.   Were you formerly the slave of the claimant? Are you now in his service or employment? Do you live on 
his land? Are you in his debt? Are you in any way to share in this claim allowed? 

  
The following questions will be put to claimants and witnesses who testify to the taking of property, omitting in the case 
of each claimant or witness any questions that are clearly unnecessary: 

72.  Were you present when any of the property charged in this claim was taken? Did you actually see any 
taken? If so, specify what you saw taken.      
73.  Was any of the property taken in the night time, or was any taken secretly, so that you did not know of it at 
the time?      
74.  Was any complaint made to any officer of the taking of any of the property? If so, give the name, rank, and 
regiment of the officer, and state who made the complaint to him, what he said and did in consequence, and 
what was the result of the complaint.   
75.  Were any vouchers or receipt asked for or given? If given where are the vouchers or receipts? If lost, state 
fully how lost. If asked and not given, by whom were they asked, who was asked to give them, and why were 
they refused or not given? State very fully in regard to the failure to ask or obtain receipts. 
76.  Has any payment ever been made for any property charged in this claim? Has any payment been made for 
any property taken at the same times as the property charged in this claim? Has any payment been made for 
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any property taken from the same claimant during the war, and if so, when, by whom, for what property and to 
what amount? Has this property, or any part of it, been included in any claim heretofore presented to Congress, 
or any court, department or officer of the United States, or to any board or survey, military commission, State 
commission or officer, or any other authority? If so, when and to what tribunal or officers was the claim 
presented; was it larger or smaller in amount than this claim, and how is the difference explained and what was 
the decision, if any, of the tribunal to which it was presented?     
77.  Was the property charged in this claim taken by troops encamped in the vicinity, or were they on the 
march, or were they on a raid or expedition, or had there been any recent battle or skirmish? 
78.  You will please listen attentively while the list of items, but not quantities, is read to you, and as each kind 
of property is called off, say whether you saw any such property taken. 
79.  Begin now with the first item of property you have just said you saw taken, and give the following 
information about it. 1st, describe its exact condition as, for instance, if corn, whether green or ripe, standing or 
harvested, in shuck, or husked, or shelled; if lumber, whether new or old, in buildings or plied; if grain, 
whether growing or cut, &c., &c., 2d, State where it was. 3d. What was the quantity; explain fully how you 
know the quantity, and if estimated, describe your method of making the estimate. 4th. Describe the quality to 
your best judgement. 5th. State as nearly as you can the market value of such property at the time in United 
States money. 6th. Say when the property was taken. 7th. Give the name of the detachment, regiment, bridge, 
division, corps, or army, taking the property, and the names of any officers belonging to the command. 8th. 
Describe the precise manner in which the property was taken into possession by the troops, and the manner in 
which it was removed. 9th. State as closely as you can how many men, animals, wagons, or other means of 
transport, were engaged in the removal, how long they were occupied, and to what place they removed the 
property. 10th. State if any officers were present; how you knew them to be officers; what they said or did in 
relation to the property, and give the names of any, if you can. 11th. Give any reasons that you may have for 
believing that the taking of the property was authorized by the proper officers or that it was for the necessary 
use of the army. 
80.  Now take the next item of property you saw taken and give the same information, and so proceed to the 
end of the list of items. 
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Application To Have Testimony Taken by Spc. Comm. (Cover Page), 5/29/1875 

   
 
 

No. 17292 
CLAIM 

of 
John, A, Miller 

of 
Bridgewater 
Rockingham 

$225.75/100 County, Va. 
APPLICATION 

TO HAVE TESTIMONY TAKEN 
BY SPECIAL COMMISSIONER 

 
 
 

Attorney 
John H. Baker 

Broadway. 
Rockingham County, Va 

  



16 
  



17 

Application To Have Testimony Taken by Spc. Comm. (Directions P. 1), 5/29/1875 

 
DIRECTIONS. 

Note 1. -Insert number of the Clerks. 
2. -“Taken” or “Furnished.” 
3. -Describe the military organization by name as fully and particularly as possible. 
4. -State as well as can be done, the place to which the property was conveyed for the use of the army. 
5. -State as fully and minutely as is possible, the particular persons or commands using the property, and to 
what particular use it was applied. 
6. -The claimant’s name should be signed here, either by himself or his attorney. 

 
No. 17292 

BEFORE THE COMMISSIONERS OF CLAIMS, 
Under Act of Congress of March 3, 1871. 

 
In the matter of the Claim of John A. Miller  

Of Bridgewater, in the county of _____________ 
And State of ______________ 

 
 Comes now the claimant, before Isaac P. Baldwin, Esq., Special Commissioner for the State of 
Virginia, and represents that he has heretofore filed with the above-named Commissioners a Petition for the 
allowance of a claim for property taken for the use of the army of the United States, which claim, as stated 
below, does not exceed the sum of five thousand dollars. 
 That the said claim, stated by items ,adn excluding therefrom all such items as refer to the DAMAGE, 
DESTRUCTION, and LOSS, and not the USE, of property; to unauthorized or unnecessary 
DEPREDATIONS of troops and other persons upon the property, or to RENT or compensation for the 
occupation of buildings, grounds, or other real estate, is as follows:  

 

No. of Items QUANTITIES AND 
ARTICLES. 

VALUE. 

DOLLS. CTS. 

1 1 Horse very good 150 00 

    

2 1 Ton Hay 15 00 

3 10 Bushels Corn 10 00 

4 20 Tons Oats 12 00 

5 200lbs Mutton 20 00 

6 125lbs Pork 18 75 

    

Total 225 75 
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Application To Have Testimony Taken by Spc. Comm. (Directions P. 2), 5/29/1875 

 
 
 That, as stated in the Petition referred to, the property in question was taken from or 
furnished by ________________________ of ___________________, in the State of 
___________, for the use of a portion of the army of the United States, known as 
______________ and commanded by ____________ and that the persons who took or received 
the property, or who authorized or directed it to be taken or furnished, were the following: 
 
 

NAME. RANK. CO. Regiment, Corps, or Station. 

    

    

 
 That the property was removed to _____________ and used for or by ______________-; 
all this on or about the _____ day of _________, in the year 186_, as appears by the petition 
presented to the Commissioners. 
 That by the following named persons, the claimant expects to prove that, from the 
beginning of hostilities against the United States to the end thereof, his sympathies were constantly 
with the cause of the United States; that he never, of his own free will and accord, did anything, or 
offered, or sought, or attempted to do anything, by word or deed, to injure said cause or retard its 
success, and that he was at all times ready and willing, when called upon, or if called upon, to aid 
and assist the cause of the Union, or its supporters, so far as his means and power, and the 
circumstances of the case, permitted. 
 
_________________________________________________of _________________________ 
__John Crousehorn_________________________________of__________________________ 
__Abram Miller_____________________________________of__________________________ 
__John E. Bryon____________________________________of__________________________ 
_________________________________________________of __________________________ 
 
 The by the following-named persons, the claimant expects to prove the taking or furnishing 
of the property for the use of the army of the United States:  
 
_________________________________________________of __________________________ 
__Elizabeth Miller___________________________________of__________________________ 
__Abram Miller_____________________________________of__________________________ 
_________________________________________________of__________________________ 
_________________________________________________of__________________________ 
_________________________________________________of__________________________ 
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Application To Have Testimony Taken by Spc. Comm. (Directions P. 3), 5/29/1875 

 
 The claimant now prays that the testimony of the witnesses just designated be take and recorded, at 
such place and at such time as the Special Commissioner may designate, at the reasonable cost of the said 
claimant; and that due notice of the time and place of the taking thereof be given to the Claimant, or to his 
counsel. 
 Submitted on this 29 day of April, 1875 
   John A. Miller 
    Claimant. 
 
   John H. Baker 
    Attorney. 
 
P.O. Address of Attorney: 
   Broadway, Rockingham Co Va.  
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Depositions - Claimant (John A. Miller) by Special Commissioner (P. 2 [no p. 1 exists]) 

 
The following questions will be put to every person who gives testimony: 
 
1.     What is your name, your age, your residence and how long has it been such, and your occupation? 

a.     “My name is John A. Miller. I am 36 years old. I live near Bridgewater, Rockingham Co., V.A. 
 
2.     If you are not the claimant, in what manner, if any, are you related to the claimant or interested in the success of the 
claim? 

a.     [Not Answered] 
  
The following questions will be put to every claimant, except claimants who were slaves at the beginning of the war: 

(Note – if the original claimant be dead, these questions are to be answered by each of the heirs or relatives who was not less 
than sixteen years of age when the war closed.) 

  
3.     Where were you born? If not born in the United States, when and where were you naturalized? Produce your 
naturalization papers if you can. 

a.     “I was born and raised in the county.” 
  

4.     Where were you residing and what was your business for six months before the outbreak of the rebellion, and where did 
you reside and what was your business from the beginning to the end of the war? And if you changed your residence or 
business, state how many times, and why such changes were made. 

a.     “I was living in this county.” 
  

5.     On which side were your sympathies during the war, and were they on the same side from beginning to end? 
a.     “My sympathies were on the side of the Union from the beginning to the end of the war.” 
  

6.     Did you ever do anything or say anything against the Union cause; and if so, what did you do or say, and why? 
a.     “If I did, I don’t know it.” 
  

7.     Were you at all times during the war willing and ready to do whatever you could in aid of the Union cause? 
a.     “I was willing to do anything but fight. I am a member of the Dunker Church. Our principles are non-resistant” 
  

8.     Did you ever do anything for the Union cause, or its advocates or defenders? If so, state what you did, giving times, 
places, names of persons aided, and particulars. Were the persons aiding your relations? 

a.     “I can’t say that I was an active participant, but I know of persons going away as refugees various times. And was glad 
to have them go. They were either deserters or liable to be [?] deceitful. I know of a great many going off in that way 
through the mountains. It was [?} known in our church and [?] many of our members would harbor and hid the refugees to 
get off.” 
  

9.     Had you any near relatives in the Union army or navy? If so, in what company and regiment, or on what vessel, when 
and where di each one enter service, and when and how did he leave service? If he was a son, produce his discharge paper, in 
order that its contents may be noted in this deposition, or state why it cannot be produced. 

a.     “I don’t know. My brother was in the militia as teamster in the confederate service in 1861 – but ran away, and went 
down the valley with Bank’s army, and never came back. [TM Context 4/6/2019: Originally, I had difficulty determining 
the name of this general as I thought it was the name of a confederate general – however, the phrase to, “Go down the 
valley,” actually refers to the direction of the river slope/elevation slope – it means to go north. Thus, he left with Bank’s 
army and never came back. Banks was a union general who participated in the valley campaign.] 
  

10.  Were you in the service or employment of the United States Government at any time during the war? If so, in what 
service, when, where, for how long, under what officers, and when and how did you leave such service or employment? 

a.     “No Sir.” 
  

11.  Did you ever voluntarily contribute money, property, or services to the Union cause; and if so, when, where, to whom, 
and what did you contribute. 

a.     [gave single answer above for questions 10 & 11.] 
  

12.  Which side did you take while the insurgent States were seceding from the Union in 1860 and 1861, and what did you do 
to show on which side you stood? 

a.     “I was in favor of preserving the Union and of leaving peace if possible.”  
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Depositions - Claimant (John A. Miller) Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 3) 
13.  Did you adhere to the Union cause after the States had passed into rebellion, or did you go with your State? 

a.     “I still adhere to the Union cause.” 
  

14.  What were your feelings concerning the battle of Bull Run or Manassas, the capture of New Orleans, the fall of 
Vicksburg, and the final surrender of the Confederate forces? 

a.     “I never felt discouraged when the rebels were successful at Union losses or elsewhere. I was always glad when the 
Union forces were victorious. I regarded the Union forces as friends. I did not try to conceal myself nor my property from 
them.” 
  

15.  What favors, privileges, or protections were ever granted you in recognition of your loyalty during the way, and when 
and by whom granted? 

a.     “While the Union forces were encamped here in the fall of 1864, we had a safeguard at our house and I could go 
anywhere in the [?, County? Carefree?] 
  

16.  Have you ever taken the so-called “Iron-clad oath” since the war, and when and on what occasions? 
a.     “No sir, I had no reason to take it.” 
  

17.  Who were the leading and best known Unionist of your vicinity during the war? Are any of them called to testify to your 
loyalty; and if not, why not? 

a.     “Daniel Bowman. [?] and Jacob [?, Lineweaver?]. Abraham Miller [TM Note: Father-in-Law]. Silas [Savory?]. [?, 
Larken] F. Garber, and [?] were Union men. Some of them will testify to my loyalty.” 
  

18.  Were you ever threatened with damage or injury to your person, family, or property on account of your Union 
sentiments, or were you actually molested or injured on account of your Union sentiments? If so, when, where, by whom, and 
in what particular way were you injured or threatened with injury? 

a.     “No Sir” 
  

19.  Were you ever arrested by any Confederate officer, soldier, sailor, or other person professing to act for the Confederate 
government or for any State in rebellion? If so, when, where, by whom, for what cause; how long were you kept under arrest; 
how did you obtain your release; did you take any oath or give any bond to effect your release; and if so, what was the nature 
of the oath or the bond? 

a.     [Answered 18 & 19 together] 
  

20.  Was any of your property taken by Confederate officers or soldiers, or any rebel authority? If so, what property, when 
where, by whom, were you ever paid therefor, and did you ever present an account therefor to the Confederate government, 
or any rebel officer? 

a.     “Yes. They took wheat, corne, and fodder at different times. They came and took it. Sometimes they paid for it in 
confederate money and sometimes they paid nothing. I always [?] wheat I had to sell, to other people in preference where I 
could.” 
  

21.  Was any of your property ever confiscated by rebel authority, on the ground that you were an enemy to the rebel cause? 
If so, give all the particulars, and state if the property was subsequently released or compensation made therefor. 

a.     “I don’t think it was.” 
  

22.  Did you ever do anything for the Confederate cause, or render any aid or comfort to the rebellion? If so, give the times, 
places, persons, and other particulars connected with each transaction. 

a.     “When the war began I was drafted and sent off to Winchester and made to work on breastworks a few days when my 
father [TM Note: Samuel Miller] hired a man to work in my place and I came home. I did nothing voluntarily. When I was 
going, I felt willing for the cars to veer off the track and kill me rather than go into the army. I told them in the camp, that if 
I had to take my choice, and Abe Lincoln was before me, and I had to shoot him, or be shot, they would have to shoot me.” 
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Depositions - Claimant (John A. Miller) Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 4) 

23.  What force, compulsion, or influence, was used to make you do anything against the Union cause? If any, 
give all the particulars demanded in the last questions. 

a.     “When I was drafted, I was told If I didn’t go I would be put into a [?] where I would be worse off, and [?] 
[?]. I have made up my mind not to go, but found it would be worse for me.”  
  

24.  Were you in any service, business, or employment, for the confederacy, or for any rebel authority? If so, give 
the same particulars as before required. 

a.     “None but what I have stated.” 
  

25.  Were you in the civil, military, or naval service of the Confederacy, or any rebel State, in any capacity whatsoever? 
If so, state fully in respect to each occasion and service. 

a.     [TM Note: Nothing stated for questions 25-34, assumed answers to question 24 applies all] 
  

26.  Did you ever take any oath to the so-called Confederate States while in any rebel service or employment? 
  

27.  Did you ever have charge of any stores, or other property, for the confederacy; or did you ever sell or furnish any 
supplies to the so-called Confederate States, or any State in rebellion; or did you have any share of interest in contracts 
or manufactures in aid of the rebellion? 

  
28.  Were you engaged in blockade running, or running through the lines, or interested in the risks or profits of such 
ventures? 

  
29.  Were you in any way interested in any vessel navigating the waters of the Confederacy, or entering or leaving any 
Confederate port? If so, what vessel, when and where employed, in what business, and had any rebel authority any 
direct or indirect interest in vessel or cargo? 

  
30.  Did you ever subscribe to any loan of the so-called Confederate States, or of any rebel State; or own Confederate 
bonds or securities, or the bonds or securities of any rebel State issued between 1861 and 1865? Did you sell, or agree to 
sell, cotton or produce to the confederate Government, or to any rebel State, or to any rebel officer or agent, and if so, 
did you receive or agree to receive Confederate or State bonds or securities in payment; and if so, to what amount and 
for what kind and amount of property? 

 
31.  Did you contribute to the raising, equipment or support of troops, or the building of gunboats in aid of the rebellion; 
or to military hospitals or invalids, or to relief funds or subscriptions for the families of persons serving against the 
United States? 

  
32.  Did you ever give information to any person in aid of military or naval operations against the United States? 

  
33.  Were you at any time a member of any society or organization for equipping volunteers or conscripts, or for aiding 
the rebellion in any other manner? 

  
34.  Did you ever take an oath of allegiance to the so-called Confederate States? If so, state how often, when, where, for 
what purpose, and the nature of the oath or affirmation. 

  
35.  Did you ever receive a pass from rebel authority? If so, state when, where, for what purpose, on what 
conditions, and how the pass was used. 

a.     “No sir.” 
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Deposition - Claimant (John A. Miller) Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 4, Continued) 
 
36.  Had you any near relatives in the Confederate army, or in any military or naval service hostile to the United 
States? If so, give names, ages on entering service, present residence, if living, what influence you exerted, if any, 
against their entering the service, and in what way you contributed to their outfit and support. 

a.     “None more than [?] and after I found they were in, I discouraged it.” 
  

37.  Have you been under the disabilities imposed by the fourteenth amendment to the Constitution? Have your 
disabilities been removed by congress? 

a.     [TM Note: Questions 37 & 38 answered together] “Yes. I took the amnesty oath at Harrisonburg after the 
war. I had no particular reason for it – only to confirm to the duties of all good [?]. 
  

38.  Have you been specially pardoned by the President for participation in the rebellion? 
a.     [See Question 37] 
  

39.  Did you take any amnesty oath during the war, or after its close? If so, when, where, and why did you take 
it? 

a.     “No Sir.” [TM Note: Answered 39-43 together here] 
  

40.  Were you ever a prisoner to the United States authorities, or on parole, or under bonds to do nothing against the 
Union cause? If so, state all the particulars. 

  
41.  Were you ever arrested by the authorities of the United States during the war? If so, when, where, by whom, on 
what grounds, and when and how did you obtain your release? 

  
42.  Were any fines or assessments levied upon you by the authorities of the United States because of your supposed 
sympathy for the rebellion? If so, state all the facts. 

  
43.  Was any of your property taken into possession or sold by the United States under the laws relating to confiscation, 
or to captured and abandoned property? 
  
The following questions will be put to all male claimants or beneficiaries who were not less than sixteen years of age 
when the war closed: 
 
44.  After the Presidential election of 1800 [sic, probably 1860], if of age, did you vote for any candidates, or on 
any questions, during the war, and how did you vote? Did you vote for or against candidates favoring secession? 
Did you vote for or against the ratification of the ordinance of secession, or for or against separation in your 
State? 

a.     “No sir. I did not vote at all. I did not think I would be allowed to vote for the Union and I would not vote 
for secession. There were a great many threats against the Union men and a great many were intimidated into 
voting for secession who were as good Union men before and after the election as [?] in the Union army. It was 
thought to be unsafe for a Union man to vote his [?] or else not to vote at all by many, and people generally 
voted for secession to preserve peace in our neighborhoods as well as in the hope of preventing a war.” 
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Depositions - Claimant (John A. Miller) Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 5–7) 

45.  Did you belong to any vigilance committee, or committee of safety, homeguard, or any other form of organization or 
combination designed to suppress Union sentiment in your vicinity? 

a.     [TM Note: Answered Questions 45-50 together] “No sir, nothing of the kind. I paid my fine and got my 
exemption, soon as I could. The answer to questions concerning the property deferment [?] 

  
46.  Were you in the Confederate army, state militia, or any military or naval organization hostile to the United States? If so, state 
when, where, in what organizations, how and why you entered, how long you remained each time, and when and how you left. If you 
claim that you were conscripted, when and where was it, how did you receive notice, and from whom, and what was the precise 
manner in which the conscription was enforced against you? If you were never in the rebel army or other hostile organization, explain 
how you escaped service. If you furnished a substitute, when and why did you furnish one, and what is his name, and his present 
address, if living? 

a.     [Questions 46–50 not answered except as in question 45] 
  

47.  Were you in any way connected with or employed in the Confederate quartermaster, commissary, ordinance, engineer, or 
medical department, or any other department, or employed on any railroad transporting troops or supplies for the Confederacy, or 
otherwise engaged in transportation of men and supplies for the Confederacy? If so, state how employed when, where, for how long, 
under whose direction, and why such employment was not giving “aid and comfort” to the rebellion. 

  
48.  Did you at any time have charges of trains, teams, wagons, vessels, boats, or military supplies or property of any kind for the 
Confederate government? If so, give all the facts as in previous questions. 

  
49.  Were you employed in saltpeter works, in tanning or milling for the Confederate government, or making clothing, boots, shoes, 
saddles, harness, arms, ammunition, accoutrements, or any other kind of munitions of war for the Confederacy? If so, give all the 
particulars of time, place and nature of service or supplies. 

  
50.  Were you ever engaged in holding in custody, directly, or indirectly, any persons taken by the rebel government as prisoners or 
war, or any persons imprisoned or confined by the Confederate government, or the authorities of any rebel State, for political causes? 
If so, when, where, under what circumstances, in what capacity were you engaged, and what was the name and rank of your 
principal? 

  
51.  Were you ever in the Union army or navy or in any service connected therewith? If so, when, where, in what capacity, under 
whose command or authority, for what period of time, and when and how did you leave service? Produce your discharge papers, so 
that their contents may be noted herein? 

a.     [Questions 51-65 were skipped entirely] 
  
The following questions will be put to every person testifying to the loyalty of claimants or beneficiaries: 
52.  In whose favor are you here to testify? 

  
53.  How long have you known that person altogether, and what part of that time have you intimately known him? 

  
54.  Did you live near him during the war, and how far away? 

  
55.  Did you meet him often, and about how often, during the war? 

  
56.  Did you converse with the claimant about the war, its causes, its progress, and its results? If so, try to remember the more 
important occasions on which you so conversed, beginning with the first occasion, and state, with respect to each, when it was, where 
it was, who were present, what caused the conversation, and what the claimant said in substance, if you cannot remember his words. 

  
57.  Do you know of anything done by the claimant that showed him to be loyal to the Union cause during the war? If you do, state 
what he did, when, where, and what was the particular cause or occasion of his doing it? Give the same information about each thing 
he did that showed him to be loyal. 

 
 58.  Do you know of anything said or done by the claimant that was against the Union cause? If so, please state, with respect to each 
thing said or done, what it was, when it was, and what particular compulsion or influence cause him to say or do it. 

 
59.  If you have heard of anything said or done by the claimant, either for the Union cause or against it, state from whom you heard it, 
when you heard it, and what you heard. 
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Deposition - Claimant (John A. Miller) Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 5–7, Cont.) 
60.  What was the public reputation of the claimant for loyalty or disloyalty to the United States during the war? If you profess to 
know his public reputation, explain fully how you know it, whom you heard speak of it, and give the names of other persons who 
were neighbors during the war and could testify to his public reputation. 

  
61.  Who were the known and prominent Union people of the neighborhood during the war, and do you know that such persons could 
testify to the claimant’s loyalty? 

  
62.  Were you, yourself, an adherent of the Union cause during the war? If so, did the claimant know you to be such, and how did he 
know it? 

  
63.  Do you know of any threats, molestations, or injury inflicted upon the claimant, or his family, or his property, on account of his 
adherence to the Union cause? If so, give all the particulars. 

  
64.  Do you know of any act done or language used by the claimant that would have prevented him from establishing his loyalty to 
the Confederacy? If so, what act or what language? 

  
65.  Can you state any other facts within your own knowledge in proof of the claimant’s loyalty during the war? If so, state all the 
facts and give all the particulars. 
   
The following questions concerning the ownership of property charged in claims will be put to all claimants, or the 
representatives of deceased claimants: 
 
66.  Who was the owner of the property charged in this claim when it was taken, and how did such persons become owner? 

a.     “The property was all mine. My father gave me the horse in 1861, and the other property I raised.” 
  

67.  If any of the property was taken, from a farm or plantation, where was such farm or plantation situated, what was its 
size, how much was cultivated, how much was woodland, and how much was the waste land? 

a.     “The farm from which the horse was taken contains about 200 acres, I think. It was not mine – I was farming 
on share and this was my share of the [?, acres?]” 

  
68.  Has the person who owned the property when taken since filed a petition in bankruptcy, or been declared a bankrupt? 

a.     “I have not.” 
  
  
The following questions will be put to female claimants: 
 
69.  Are you married or single? If married, when were you married? Was your husband loyal to the cause and Government of the 
United States throughout the war? Where does he now reside, and why is he not joined with you in the petition? How many children 
have you? Give their names and ages. Were any of them in the Confederate service during the war? If you claim that the property 
named in your petition is your sole and separate property, state how you came to own it separately from your husband; how your title 
was derived; when your ownership of it began. Did it ever belong to your husband? If the property for which you ask pay is wood, 
timber, rails, or the products of a farm, how did you get title to the farm? If by deed, can you file copies of the deeds? If single, have 
you been married? If a widow, when did your husband die? Was he in the Confederate army? Was he in the civil service of the 
Confederacy? Was he loyal to the United States Government throughout the war? Did he leave any children? How many? Are any 
now living? Give their names and ages. Are they not interested in this claim? If they are not joined in this petition, why not? State 
fully how your title to the property specified in the petition was obtained. Did you ever belong to any sewing society organized to 
make clothing for Confederate soldiers or their families, or did you assist in making any such clothing, or making any such clothing, 
or making flags or other military equipment, or preparing or furnishing delicacies or supplies for Confederate hospitals or soldiers? 

a.     [Skipped Questions 69-71] 
  
  
The following questions will be put to colored claimants: 
70.  Were you a slave or free at the beginning of the war? If ever a slave when did you become free? What business did you follow 
after obtaining your freedom? Did you own this property before or after you became free? When did you get it? How did you become 
owner, and from whom did you obtain it? Where did you get the means to pay for it? What was the name and residence of your 
master, and is he still living? Is he a witness for you, and if not, why not? Are you in his employ now, or do you live on his land or on 
land bough from him? Are you in his debt? What other person besides yourself has any interest in this claim? 
   
The following questions will be put to all colored witnesses in behalf of white claimants: 
 
 
 



32 

Depositions - Claimant (John A. Miller) Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 5–7, Cont.) 
71.   Were you formerly the slave of the claimant? Are you now in his service or employment? Do you live on his land? Are you in 
his debt? Are you in any way to share in this claim allowed? 
   
The following questions will be put to claimants and witnesses who testify to the taking of property, omitting in the case of each 
claimant or witness any questions that are clearly unnecessary: 
 
72.  Were you present when any of the property charged in this claim was taken? Did you actually see any taken? If so, 
specify what you saw taken. 

a.     “I was present when the property was taken and saw the horse, the hay, the corne, and the vats, and some of 
the sheep taken. (Item 1) The horse was taken from a field on a farm near Mount Crawford where I was living in 
1862 – by some [?, calvaries?] of Gen. Freemont’s [TM Note: Likely referring to The army of Maj. Gen. John C. 
Frémont.] army about the time of the battle of Port Republic. There were two more engaged in the taking. They 
were on horseback. They brought a halter with them and led the horse away towards their camp. I talked with 
them about taking him and they told me they were acting under orders and would leave to take him along. I don’t 
know if either of them was an officer.  
  
I put the price at $150, but that would not have purchased him from me. He was a very fine animal, good age and 
well broke. I considered him well worth $150. 
  
All the rest of the property was taken from a farm near Bridgewater where I was living at the time – by the troops 
of Gen. Custer who were encamped near by in the latter part of Sept. and first of October 1864. It was all taken 
by the same troops and within a few days.”  
(Item 2: Hay) The hay was taken from the farm by cavalry men – who string it across their horses in large [?] and 
carried it off. Some to the picket boats and some to the camps. The quantity charged for was estimated and we 
were careful not to have the amount too high. 
  
(Item 3: Corn) The corn was taken from a field near our dwelling. We had about 18 or 20 acres of tolerable [?] 
corn. It was cut up and in shocks. It was carried away with the fodder. I cannot now tell the number of shocks 
taken, but when the account was made up, my recollection was more clear and my partner in this property (the 
landlord) who also filed a claim, assisted in making the estimate and calculations, and my claim is for my share. 
And I am quite certain the amount charged is correct. The Troops took all the corn they wanted, but not all we 
had.” 
  
(Item 4: Oats) The oats were taken from the granary in the farm. The bread wheat we estimated at 40 bushels. 
And they were all taken by these same troops, who carried them off in sacks to the camps. 
  
(Item 5: Mutton) I saw some of my sheep killed and carried off on horses. I cant tell how many I saw killed. Half 
of them were mine. I don’t remember seeing any of the hogs killed: [?] [?] [?] [?, saith not?]. 
  
Attest: Isaac P. Balw---, John A. Miller 
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Depositions - Claimant (John A. Miller) Taken by Special Commissioner (Unanswered) 

 
73.  Was any of the property taken in the night time, or was any taken secretly, so that you did not know of it at the time? 

a.     [Questions 73-80 were not answered except as in question 72.] 
  

74.  Was any complaint made to any officer of the taking of any of the property? If so, give the name, rank, and regiment of the 
officer, and state who made the complaint to him, what he said and did in consequence, and what was the result of the complaint. 

  
75.  Were any vouchers or receipt asked for or given? If given where are the vouchers or receipts? If lost, state fully how lost. If 
asked and not given, by whom were they asked, who was asked to give them, and why were they refused or not given? State very 
fully in regard to the failure to ask or obtain receipts. 

  
76.  Has any payment ever been made for any property charged in this claim? Has any payment been made for any property taken at 
the same times as the property charged in this claim? Has any payment been made for any property taken from the same claimant 
during the war, and if so, when, by whom, for what property and to what amount? Has this property, or any part of it, been included 
in any claim heretofore presented to Congress, or any court, department or officer of the United States, or to any board or survey, 
military commission, State commission or officer, or any other authority? If so, when and to what tribunal or officers was the claim 
presented; was it larger or smaller in amount than this claim, and how is the difference explained and what was the decision, if any, 
of the tribunal to which it was presented? 

  
77.  Was the property charged in this claim taken by troops encamped in the vicinity, or were they on the march, or were they on a 
raid or expedition, or had there been any recent battle or skirmish? 

 
78.  You will please listen attentively while the list of items, but not quantities, is read to you, and as each kind of property is called 
off, say whether you saw any such property taken. 

  
79.  Begin now with the first item of property you have just said you saw taken, and give the following information about it. 1st, 
describe its exact condition as, for instance, if corn, whether green or ripe, standing or harvested, in shuck, or husked, or shelled; if 
lumber, whether new or old, in buildings or plied; if grain, whether growing or cut, &c., &c., 2d, State where it was. 3d. What was 
the quantity; explain fully how you know the quantity, and if estimated, describe your method of making the estimate. 4th. Describe 
the quality to your best judgement. 5th. State as nearly as you can the market value of such property at the time in United States 
money. 6th. Say when the property was taken. 7th. Give the name of the detachment, regiment, bridge, division, corps, or army, taking 
the property, and the names of any officers belonging to the command. 8th. Describe the precise manner in which the property was 
taken into possession by the troops, and the manner in which it was removed. 9th. State as closely as you can how many men, 
animals, wagons, or other means of transport, were engaged in the removal, how long they were occupied, and to what place they 
removed the property. 10th. State if any officers were present; how you knew them to be officers; what they said or did in relation to 
the property, and give the names of any, if you can. 11th. Give any reasons that you may have for believing that the taking of the 
property was authorized by the proper officers or that it was for the necessary use of the army. 

  
80.  Now take the next item of property you saw taken and give the same information, and so proceed to the end of the list of items. 
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Depositions - Elizabeth F. Miller Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 8–9) 

The following questions will be put to every person who gives testimony: 
1.     What is your name, your age, your residence and how long has it been such, and your occupation? 

a.     I am 34 years old. 
2.     If you are not the claimant, in what manner, if any, are you related to the claimant or interested in 
the success of the claim? 

a.     I am the wife of the claimant and live with him. 
  
Questions 3-71 were not answered. 
  
The following questions will be put to claimants and witnesses who testify to the taking of property, omitting in the 
case of each claimant or witness any questions that are clearly unnecessary: 

72.  Were you present when any of the property charged in this claim was taken? Did you actually see 
any taken? If so, specify what you saw taken. 

a.     “I was present and witnessed the taking of nearly all the property. 
  
(Item 1: Horse) The horse was taken a day or two after the Battle of Port Republic in the summer of 
1862 by some Union Cavalrymen. 
  
He was in the field near the house where we were living when taken. There was but two men together. 
They were on horses. I saw them go into the field and halter our horse and lead him off in the 
direction of the Union camp. We were then living near Mt. Crawford. My husband went and talked 
with them. I could not hear what was said. He told me the soldiers said they were acting under orders. 
The horse was a [?, quiet?] bay, and a very good animal. My husband said he would not have sold him 
for $150. 
  
All the other property was taken from my father’s farm near Bridgewater where we were living in 
1864. My husband worked my father’s place on shares. And this was some of his share of the [?]. I 
don’t think any division had been made of the property. 
  
(Item 2: Hay) I saw cavalrymen take hay from our barn a number of times. Large parties of them 
sometimes. It was carried off toward the camp nearby in large bundles strung across their horses. I 
have no idea as to the quantity of hay taken. 
  
(Item 3: Corn) I saw the same troops carry large bundles of corn from my fathers field across their 
horses many times. But have no means of knowing the quantity taken. 
  
(Item 4: Oats) I saw the same troops carry off sack on their horses from our farm several times, and 
when they were gone all the oats we had in the farm were gone. I don’t know how many were taken. 
  
(Item 5: mutton) I saw the same men trying to kill our sheep from the field. And I saw several of them 
shot and carried off on horses towards the camps.  
  
I can’t remember seeing any hogs killed or driven away. 
  
All this was taken by Gen. Custer’s Brigade who were camped near Bridgewater about a week early 
in Oct. 1864. 
  
[TM Note: Both John A. Miller and Elizabeth F. Miller’s testimony is closed with some sort of saying 
or attestment that I cannot totally discern. “Our father deferment, saith not? Our Brethren Deferment 
saith not? Something to that effect?] 

  
Questions 73-80 were not answered. 
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Depositions - Silas Sandy Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 10) 
The following questions will be put to every person who gives testimony: 

1. What is your name, your age, your residence and how long has it been such, and your occupation? 
a. “I am 56 years old, a farmer. Live near Bridgewater, where I have lived for 16 years past.” 

 
2. If you are not the claimant, in what manner, if any, are you related to the claimant or interested in the success of the 

claim? 
a. “I am not related to the claimant and have no interest in the success of his claim.” 

 
[TM Note: Skipped to question 53] 
 
The following questions will be put to every person testifying to the loyalty of claimants or beneficiaries: 
52. In whose favor are you here to testify? 

a. [TM Note: Skipped] 
 
53. How long have you known that person altogether, and what part of that time have you intimately known him? 

a. “I have known the claimant since his boyhood.” 
 
54. Did you live near him during the war, and how far away? 

a. “I lived about a mile from him.” 
 
55. Did you meet him often, and about how often, during the war? 

a. “Met him very often during the war. Fully as often as once a week.”  
 
56. Did you converse with the claimant about the war, its causes, its progress, and its results? If so, try to remember the more 
important occasions on which you so conversed, beginning with the first occasion, and state, with respect to each, when it was, 
where it was, who were present, what caused the conversation, and what the claimant said in substance, if you cannot 
remember his words. 

a. “I conversed with him very many times on matters relating to the war, secession, etc. All his expressions were friendly to 
the Union and against secession and war. I cannot repeat his language, but he spoke decisively against secession. We are 
members of the same church and spoke freely together. We had no sympathy with the rebellion in any sense.” 

 
57. Do you know of anything done by the claimant that showed him to be loyal to the Union cause during the war? If you do, 
state what he did, when, where, and what was the particular cause or occasion of his doing it? Give the same information 
about each thing he did that showed him to be loyal. 

a. He declared that he would not go in the service, and soon as the fine law was passed he paid his fine and got his 
exemption.” 

 
58. Do you know of anything said or done by the claimant that was against the Union cause? If so, please state, with respect to 
each thing said or done, what it was, when it was, and what particular compulsion or influence cause him to say or do it. 

a. “I don’t know of anything he did against it.” 
 
59. If you have heard of anything said or done by the claimant, either for the Union cause or against it, state from whom you 
heard it, when you heard it, and what you heard. 

a. [TM Note: Did not answer] 
 
60. What was the public reputation of the claimant for loyalty or disloyalty to the United States during the war? If you 
profess to know his public reputation, explain fully how you know it, whom you heard speak of it, and give the names of other 
persons who were neighbors during the war and could testify to his public reputation. 

a. “He was regarded and spoken of as a Union man, by all the Union men around here. I have heard not only Union men, but 
the south speak of him as a Union Sympathizer. Samuel and Jacob [?, Heatwole?], Solomon and Joseph Garber. John F. 
Garber and others could testify to his loyalty.” 
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Depositions - Silas Sandy Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 11) 

61. Who were the known and prominent Union people of the neighborhood during the war, and do you know 
that such persons could testify to the claimant’s loyalty? 

a. “Those I have named and others.” 
 
62. Were you, yourself, an adherent of the Union cause during the war? If so, did the claimant know you to be 
such, and how did he know it? 

a. “Yes sir. I tried to be a Union Man.” 
 
63. Do you know of any threats, molestations, or injury inflicted upon the claimant, or his family, or his 
property, on account of his adherence to the Union cause? If so, give all the particulars. 

a. “I don’t know of any threats against him.” 
 
64. Do you know of any act done or language used by the claimant that would have prevented him from 
establishing his loyalty to the Confederacy? If so, what act or what language? 

a. “Yes his language would prevent it.” 
 
65. Can you state any other facts within your own knowledge in proof of the claimant’s loyalty during the war? 
If so, state all the facts and give all the particulars. 

a. “Nothing that I recollect.” 
 
Attested by Isaac P. Baldwin, Silas Laudy (Left his mark) 
 
[TM Note: Questions 66-80 were not answered] 
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Depositions - Abraham Miller Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 11, [Scan above]) 

The following questions will be put to every person who gives testimony: 
 
1.     What is your name, your age, your residence and how long has it been such, and your occupation? 

a.     “I am 58 years old, a farmer and manufacturer. Live near Bridgewater where I have lived nearly all my 
life.” 
  
2.     If you are not the claimant, in what manner, if any, are you related to the claimant or interested in the 
success of the claim? 

a.     “The claimant married my daughter. I have no interest in the success of this claim.” 
  
[TM Note: Skipped to question 53] 
  
The following questions will be put to every person testifying to the loyalty of claimants or beneficiaries: 
 
52.  In whose favor are you here to testify? 

a.     [TM Note: Skipped] 
  

53.  How long have you known that person altogether, and what part of that time have you intimately known 
him? 

a.     “I have known the claimant since his boyhood. He lived in my house part of the time during the war.” 
  
54.  Did you live near him during the war, and how far away? 

a.     [TM Note: Answered with question 53] 
  
55.  Did you meet him often, and about how often, during the war? 

a.     [TM Note: Answered with question 53] 
  
56.  Did you converse with the claimant about the war, its causes, its progress, and its results? If so, try to 
remember the more important occasions on which you so conversed, beginning with the first occasion, and state, 
with respect to each, when it was, where it was, who were present, what caused the conversation, and what the 
claimant said in substance, if you cannot remember his words. 

a.     “I have talked with him times without number, about the war and all such matters. He was a Union man 
from first to last. Our sentiments were the same on all these questions. He spoke against secession and the war, and had 
no sympathy with the rebellion in any way. 
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Depositions - Abraham Miller Taken by Special Commissioner (P. 12–13) 

57.  Do you know of anything done by the claimant that showed him to be loyal to the Union cause during the war? If you do, 
state what he did, when, where, and what was the particular cause or occasion of his doing it? Give the same information 
about each thing he did that showed him to be loyal. 

a.     [TM Note: Question Skipped] 
  
58.  Do you know of anything said or done by the claimant that was against the Union cause? If so, please state, with respect 
to each thing said or done, what it was, when it was, and what particular compulsion or influence cause him to say or do it. 

a.     “I am sure he never did anything against the Union cause willingly. When the war began he was drafted, and was sent 
off to Winchester and was gone some 10 days perhaps, when he returned home: his father [?] sent a man to take his place. 
He was in the greatest distress of mind when he found he must go and was greatly relieved over his return home.” 

  
59.  If you have heard of anything said or done by the claimant, either for the Union cause or against it, state from whom you 
heard it, when you heard it, and what you heard. 

a.     [TM Note: Question Skipped] 
  
60.  What was the public reputation of the claimant for loyalty or disloyalty to the United States during the war? If you 
profess to know his public reputation, explain fully how you know it, whom you heard speak of it, and give the names of other 
persons who were neighbors during the war and could testify to his public reputation. 

a.     “He was generally regarded as a loyal man to the Union by Union men and disloyal to the confederacy by the south. 
He was marked as a union man by the south from not having voted for secession. I have heard many persons speak of him 
as a Union man. Silas Laudy, Samuel Miller, and others I cannot now name, have so spoken of him.” 

  
61.  Who were the known and prominent Union people of the neighborhood during the war, and do you know that such 
persons could testify to the claimant’s loyalty? 

a.     “Jacob and Andrew [? Lindsey?], Daniel Bowman, Solomon and David Garber, Samuel Long, Jacob Sheickel, and 
others were Union Men.” 

  
62.  Were you, yourself, an adherent of the Union cause during the war? If so, did the claimant know you to be such, and how 
did he know it? 

a.     “I was a Union man.” 
  
63.  Do you know of any threats, molestations, or injury inflicted upon the claimant, or his family, or his property, on account 
of his adherence to the Union cause? If so, give all the particulars. 

a.     “He could not swear his loyalty to the confederacy. He said if the south were successful the Union men could not stay 
here, and he and I would have to leave. He was in favor of all getting out of the country that could go who were liable to do 
military duty. Soon as the fine law was passed he paid his fine and was exempted, and was glad when any who were 
conscripts or deserters or refugees made their escape to the mountains.” 

  
“The answers to questions concerning the claimants [?]” 
  
“I was present on my place and saw near all the property taken except the horse, which was not on my place.” 
  
Claimant lived on my place and worked it for shares. For one half. It was all together when taken. And when this claim was made out 
we worked out the quantity of property taken and divided the amount between us. 
  
The amount changed in our claims was as near right as we could make it. We were careful not to charge too much. 
  
The hay and the oats were taken from the farm, and the corn from the field in the shuck. It was all taken by troops of Gen. Custer 
who were camped at Bridgewater just before the [?] in the fall of 1864.” 
  
Attest: Issac P. Baldwin, Abraham Miller 
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Depositions - “Last Page” 

“LAST PAGE” 
 

 
Note - On this page the special commissioner may enter any explanations, statements, note or comment of his 

own which may be of service in the examination and decision of the claims at Washington. If there is anything notable 
in the appearance, conduct, or condition of a witness, the fact should be noted on this page. If the special commissioner 
knows or hears anything, apart from what appears in the depositions, that either confirms or impugns the credibility of 
the testimony or the merit of the claim, he should state what he knows or has heard, with his means of knowledge, or the 
names of his informants, as the case may be, in order that formal inquiry may be made, or further evidence demanded, if 
necessary. It would be serviceable to both sides if the special commissioner were to ascertain and set down the names of 
the men, still living, who, by general reputation, were leading Unionists of the war-period in the vicinity of the claimant. 
Comment or opinion based merely on the testimony taken is not desired. 
 

_____________________________ 
_____________________________ 

 
 

Claimant is well evidenced by loyal men who  Isaac P. Baldwin  
were not witnesses.     Special Counsel  
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Petition Cover Page 

 
 

17.292. Nov. 1. 1872. 
PETITION. 

____________ 
of 

John A. Miller 
Bridgewater 

Rockingham County, Va. 
____________ 

For 
Horse & Farm produce 

Taken near Bridgewater, Va 
By the U.S. Army 

 
 
 
 
 

__________ 
$225.75 

 
 
 

 
Geroge K. Gilmer 

Attorney 
Rockingham Cty, Virginia  
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Main Petition Form to the Southern Claims Commission 

 
PETITION 

____________ 
 
To the Honorable the commissioners of Claims 

Under the Act of Congress of March 3, 1871: 
 
Your petitioner (1)  John A. Miller____________________________________________________________ 
___________________________________________________________________ respectfully presents that 
he is a citizen and resident of Rockingham County_______________________________________________ 
State of (2) Virginia, Bridgewater_____________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
that he is the original owner of the hereinafter mentioned claim; 
(3)______________________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
That there was (4)______ taken____________________________________ from the petitioner for the use of 
The army of the United States, for which no payment has been made, or compensation received in any manner  
or from any source for any part thereof, the following described supplied (5)___________________________ 
 
 

On or about the 
Ninth day of June 

1862 

One Horse  Very good quality $150 00 1 

  $5 00  

On or about the 
29th Day of Sept. 

1864 

One ton Hay  $15 00 2 

10 Bushels Corn @ 1.00  $10 00 3 

20 Bushels Oats @ 60 cts  $12 00 4 

200# Mutton @ 10 cts  $20 00 5 

125# Pork @ 15 cts  $18 .75 6 

  $225 .75  

This property was taken from the farm upon which the petitioner then lived, near Bridgewater, Va. 

  



54 



55 

 



56 

Main Petition Form to the Southern Claims Commission (P. 2–3) 

 

That the prices charged are the fair market 
value for the supplies at the time and place last 
mentioned, as your petition is informed and 
believes; that said supplies were (6) taken by the 
U.S. soldiers as follows “to wit,” the horse was 
taken by some of the men belonging to General 
Fremonts Army. The petitioner does not know the 
names of any officer or men. He knows the other 
property was all taken by the Command of General 
Custer of the Army of the Shenandoah. They were 
Camped near the petitioners farm and took & used 
the property while there. 
 
The ? of his claim and the ? when Attorney the 
personal appears of the Claimant this [?] before the 
Hon. Committee at Washington City, of C. [?] 
entirety [?] this claimant from the [?] of this claim, 
and if any further evidence be needed the petitioner 
be respectfully asks that he produce the cause at 
Harrisonburg, Va. as some have before such person 
as the commissioners may designate,   
 
 
 

That this claim (7) [?] [?] before any Department 
whatsoever or before any office or apart of the 
government or before company or any committee thereof 
for attestment or decision. 
      Your petitioner further says that he hereby 
appoints Dr. G. K. Gilmer, of Richmond, Virginia, his 
true and lawful attorney, to appear before the Claims 
Commission appointed under the act of Congress of 
March 3, 1871, or any Court, Department, or Bureau 
of the Government of the United States, and 
prosecute this claim to final issue, with full power of 
substitution, hereby ratifying and confirming all said 
attorney shall lawfully do in virtue hereof, and hereby 
annulling and revoking all other powers of attorney in 
the premises. 
 
      Your petitioner further avers that he is a citizen 
who remained a loyal adherent to the cause and the 
Government of the United States during the war, and 
was so loyal before and at the time of the taking or 
furnishing of the property for which claim is made. 
 

John A. Miller 
(claimants signature) 

Test 
Wm. P. Grove 
 
(8) John A. Miller being duly sworn and deposed under 
says that he is the petitioner named in the forgoing 
petition and who signed the same, that the matter therein 
stated are [?] of deponents on knowledge except as to 
those matters which are stated on information and belief 
and as to those matters he believes these to be true and 
deponent further says the he did not voluntarily support 
the Confederate Army or any other as an officer [?] [?] 
or in any other capacity at any time during the late 
rebellion, that he never voluntarily furnished any stores, 
supplies, or other material aid to the said Confederate 
Army or Navy or to the Confederate Government or to 
any Office, Department, or Adherent of the same in 
support there of and that he never voluntarily accepted 
or exercised the function of any office whatsoever under 
or yielded voluntary support to the said Confederate 
Government. 

John. A. Miller 
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 24th day of 
April, 1871. 
Pendleton Bayron, N.P. 
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Petition Cover Page & Testimony as to Loyalty by Neighbors 

[T.M. Note - Top fold covered previously on Page 48 in the “John A. Miller Petition Cover Page” Section] 
 
We the undersigned loyal citizens of Rockingham County 
Virginia hereby certify on oath that we have known 
The claimant John A. Miller for many years and 
Know him to have been a loyal adherent to the government 
of the United States before and at the time the  
Property mentioned in this claim was taken. 
 
John Croushorn 
Abraham Miller 
John E. Bryon 
 
Sworn and Subscribed to before me April 29th 1871 
Pendleton Bryon N.P.  
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Summary Report Title Page 

 
No. 17.292 113.034. 

 
CLAIM 

of 
John A. Miller 

 
 

 
of 

Rockingham Co 
Virginia 

____________________________________ 
 

SUMMARY REPORT 
____________________________________ 

 
Amount Allowed $ 142.00 

 
SUBMITTED TO CONGRESS 

 
December 4 1876. 

 
By the 

  
COMMISSIONERS OF CLAIMS, 

 
UNDER 

 
Act March 3D, 1871. 

 
______________________  
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Summary Report 

No. 17.292 
The Claim of John A. Miller, of Rockingham Co., In the State of Virginia 

 
 

 
No. of  
Item 

 
NATURE OF CLAIM 

AMOUNT 
CLAIMED 

AMOUNT 
ALLOWED 

AMOUNT 
DISALLOWED 

Dollars Cts. Dollars Cts. Dollars Cts. 

June ‘62        

1 1 Horse – 150 00 100 00 50 00 

2 1 Ton of Hay – 15 00 15 00 – – 

3 10 Bushels of Corn 10 00 6 00 4 00 

4 20 Bushels of Oats 12 00 6 00 6 00 

5 200lbs of Mutton 20 00 10 00 10 00 

6 125lbs of Pork 18 75 5 00 13 75 

  225 75 142 00 83 75 

The claimant is a Dunkard. He was drafted into the militia in the first year of the war & worked on the 
breatworks at Winchester a few days when his father got a substitute for him & he went home. His own 
account of his feelings, confirmed by his father in law, shows that the service was forced & wholly agt. his 
will. Aside from this no disloyal act is shown. 
 
He refused to vote on the ratifying of the Order of Sec. — He says he always rejoiced at Union Victories. 
His wife, father in law & his neighbor Sandy testify to his loyalty. – We think he was loyal 
 
The horse was taken by two U.S. Cavalrymen soon after (about 2 days after) the Battle of Port Republic, 
who took the horse off towards the camp. The other [?, items?] taken by Cuter’s men. 
 
We allow $142.00 
A.O. Aldis 
J.B. Howell.               Commissioners of Claims 
O. Ferris 
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Unknown Cover Page 

John A. Miller 
Bridgewater 

Rockingham 
County, Va.  
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Power of Attorney, John H. Baker 

Know all Men by these Present, 
 

That I, John A. Miller of Bridgewater 
In the county of Rockingham and State of Virginia, have made, constituted and appointed, and by these 
presents do make, constitute, and appoint John H. Baker, of Broadway, in the County of Rockingham and 
State of Virginia, my true and lawful Attorney, irrevocable, for me and in my name, place and stead, to 
prosecute my claim against the United States, before the Commissioners of Claims, and for the purposes 
aforesaid, I do hereby grant unto my said Attorney full power and authority to do and perform all and every 
act whatsoever requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and 
purposes as I might or could do if personally present, with full power of substitution and revocation, hereby 
ratifying and confirming all that my said Attorney shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof, 
hereby annulling and revoking all former powers of Attorney or authorizations whatever in the premises. 
And I hereby agree to furnish such further evidence as may be necessary to establish my claim. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this  
20th day of March., in the year on thousand Eight hun- 
Dred and seventy four. Five 

John A. Miller L.S. 
 

Witnessed by 
L.W. Gamble 
G.F. [?] 

STATE OF VIRGINIA 
COUNTY OF Rockingham 

Personally appeared before me, the subscriber L.W. Gamble, clerk of the county court 
In and for said County, the above named John A. Miller________________________ 
_________________to me well known, and acknowledged the foregoing Letter of  
Attorney To be his free and voluntary act and deed for the purposes therein set forth 
Given under my hand this 20th day of March 1875. 
at Harrisonburg, 
 

L.W. Gamble, 666 Rte.   
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Summary Award Ticket 

 
 

Claim No. 43.037 
Sett. No. 2584 

______________________ 
 

John A. Miller 
Rockingham Co Va. 

$142.00 
 

Due him 
 

OUT OF THE APPROPRIATION FOR 
 

“Claims of Loyal Citizens for Supplies  
furnished during the Rebellion.” 

 
For amount allowed him 

by the Southern Claims Com- 
mission. 

___________________  
Reported Mch 19th, 1874 

Returned march 20th, 1877 
___________________ 

Requisition No. 2994, dated 
March 24, 1877, transmitted for 

Warrant March 28, 1877 
__________________ 

$142.  
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Summary Award Ticket, Detailed Version 

 
The United States, 

To John A. Miller, Rockingham Co., Va. 
 

For the amount allowed him by Act of Congress, Private no. 70. 
 Approved __March 3,_________, 1877, entitled “An Act making 
 Appropriations for the payment of claims reported allowed by the 
 Commissioners of Claims under the Act of Congress of March 3, 
 1871: “to wit”: 
   One hundred and forty two dollars | $142.00 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       $142.00 

 
 Payable in care of George K. Gilmer atty., Richmond, 
 Under cover to G.H. Baker, esq. 
            Broadway, Va  Va. 

 
TREASURY DEPARTMENT,     TREASURY DEPARTMENT, 
 Second Comptroller’s Office,     Third Auditor’s Office, 
  March 20th, 1877.       March 14, 1877. 
 
H. Spalding       Coleman 
          Clerk.            Clerk. 
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